

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

Journal of Chromatography B, 849 (2007) 211-222

Review

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Disease proteomics of high-molecular-mass proteins by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis with agarose gels in the first dimension (Agarose 2-DE)☆

Masamichi Oh-Ishi*, Tadakazu Maeda

Laboratory of Biomolecular Dynamics, Department of Physics, Kitasato University School of Science, 1-15-1 Kitasato, Sagamihara, Kanagawa 228-8555, Japan

> Received 16 June 2006; accepted 27 October 2006 Available online 1 December 2006

Abstract

Agarose gel is the preferred electrophoretic medium currently used for separating high molecular mass (HMM) proteins (MW > 100 kDa). Agarose gels are widely used for both SDS-agarose gel electrophoresis and agarose isoelectric focusing (IEF). A two-dimensional gel electrophoresis method employing agarose gels in the first dimension (agarose 2-DE) that is sufficiently good at separating up to 1.5 mg of HMM proteins with molecular masses as large as 500 kDa has been used to separate proteins from various diseased tissues and cells. Although resolution of the agarose 2-DE pattern always depends on the tissue being analyzed, sample preparation procedures including (i) protein extraction with an SDS sample buffer; (ii) ultracentrifugation of a tissue homogenate; and (iii) 1% SDS in both stacking and separation gels of the second-dimension SDS-PAGE gel, are generally effective for HMM protein detection. In a comprehensive prostate cancer proteome study using agarose 2-DE, the HMM region of the gel was rich in proteins of particular gene/protein expression groups (39.1% of the HMM proteins but only 28.4% of the LMM ones were classified as transcription/translation-related proteins). Examples include transcription factors, DNA or RNA binding proteins, and ribosomal proteins. To understand oxidative stress-induced cellular damage at the protein level, a novel proteomic method, in which protein carbonyls were derivatized with biotin hydrazide followed by agarose 2-DE, was useful for detecting HMM protein carbonyls in tissues of both a diabetes model Ostuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rat and a control Long-Evans Tokushima Otsuka (LETO) rat. In this paper, we review the use of agarose gels for separation of HMM proteins and disease proteomics of HMM proteins in general, with particular attention paid to our proteome analyzes based on the use of agarose 2-DE for protein separation followed by the use of mass spectrometry for protein identification.

© 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis; Disease proteomics; High-molecular-mass proteins (HMM)

Abbreviations: ACT, actin; Agarose 2-DE, two-dimensional gel electrophoresis with agarose gels in the first dimension; alpha2M, alpha 2-macroglobulin; ATPase, adenosine triphosphatase; BiP, immunoglobulin heavy chain-binding protein; CAP1, adenylyl cyclase-associated protein; CHAPS, 3-[(3-Cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]propanesulfonic acid; 2-DE, two-dimensional gel electrophoresis; 2-D DIGE, fluorescent two-dimensional differential gel electrophoresis; DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; DTT, dithiothreitol; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; eIF-4H, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4H; GRP94, endoplasmin; HDL, high density lipoprotein; HMM, high-molecular-mass; Hp2-1, haptoglobulin phenotype 2-1; HSA, human serum albumin; HSP70, heat shock protein 70; IEF, isoelectric focusing; IgM, immunoglobulin M; IPG, immobilized pH gradient; IPG-Dalt, immobilized pH gradient two-dimensional gel electrophoresis; LC, liquid chromatography; LETO, Long-Evans Tokushima Otsuka; LMM, low-molecular-mass; LNCaP, an androgen-sensitive human prostate cancer cell line; 2-ME, 2-mercaptoethanol; MHC, myosin heavy chain; MS, mass-spectrometry; NCC27, nuclear chloride ion channel protein; Mr, molecular mass; mRNA, messenger RNA; OLETF, Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty; P4HB, prolyl-4-hydroxylase beta subunit; pJ, isoelectric point; PSA, prostate-specific antigen; PSMA, prostate-specific membrane antigen; PTMs, post-translational modifications; PVDF, polyvinylidine difluoride; RBCs, red blood cells; RNA, ribonucleic acid; RSA, rat serum albumin; SDS, sodium dodecyl sulfate, sodium lauryl sulfate; SDS-PAGE, sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; Tg, thyroglobulin; TPI1, triosephosphate isomerase 1; Tris-HCl, Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane hydrochloride; VDAC1, voltage-dependent anion channel 1; VHMM, very high molecular mass

* This paper is part of a special volume entitled "Analytical Tools for Proteomics", guest edited by Erich Heftmann.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 42 778 9540; fax: +81 42 78 9953.

E-mail address: oishi@walrus.sci.kitasato-u.ac.jp (M. Oh-Ishi).

 $1570\mathchar`line 1570\mathchar`line 1570\mathch$

Contents

1.	Introduction				
2.	Physical and chemical properties of HMM proteins				
3.	3. Separation techniques for HMM proteins				
	3.1. Mass-spectrometry-based proteomics for HMM proteins	213			
	3.2. Gel-based proteomics for HMM proteins	213			
4.	Analytical aspects and benefits of agarose gels	216			
	4.1. Comparison of agarose and polyacrylamide gels for protein separation	216			
	4.2. SDS-agarose gel electrophoresis	216			
	4.3. Agarose IEF	216			
5. 2-DE with agarose gels in the first dimension (Agarose 2-DE)		217			
	5.1. Importance of solubilization of HMM proteins for agarose 2-DE	217			
	5.2. Importance of ultracentrifugation of samples	218			
	5.3. Importance of SDS concentration of the second-dimensional SDS-polyacrylamide gel	219			
6.	Use of agarose 2-DE in cancer proteomics of HMM proteins	219			
	6.1. Prostate cancer	219			
	6.2. Colorectal cancer	219			
	6.3. Esophageal cancer	220			
7.	Endocrine disease proteomics of HMM proteins	220			
	7.1. Hypothyroidism and dwarfism	220			
	7.2. Diabetes	221			
	References				

1. Introduction

Proteomics [1], a new post-genomic field that encompasses protein expression and function in a cell or tissue, is a promising approach for better understanding the biology of organisms including human. Since an organism's proteome depends dynamically on the particular state of that organism, proteomic studies may reveal pathologic states of diseases, including the amounts of proteins present, subcellular localization of the proteins, extent of post-translational modifications and patterns of protein associations. The proteomic approach is, therefore, conceptually attractive because it directly elucidates protein expression, accumulation, and degradation profiles in tissues.

High-molecular-mass (HMM) proteins (MW > 100 kDa) are known to be involved in a number of human diseases, including Duchene and Becker muscular dystrophies (dystrophin: Mr \sim 400 kDa) [2], hypothyroidism (thyroglobulin: Mr \sim 330 kDa) [3], and cardiomyopathies (cardiac myosin heavy chain: Mr \sim 200 kDa) [4]. Though a variety of proteomic techniques have been described, at the moment purification of HMM proteins remains a difficult task. O'Farrell [5] was the first to devise a 2-DE technique capable of detecting more than 1000 spots in a gel. Though it is evident that this method is quite powerful, it is not particularly suitable for analyzing HMM proteins larger than 200 kDa. Hirabayashi [6] was the first to develop a 2-DE method that could analyze HMM proteins as large as 500 kDa, including myosin heavy chain [6] and dystrophin [7]. His insight was to use an agarose gel instead of a polyacrylamide gel for the isoelectric focusing (IEF) in the first dimension. Agarose gels, when used for IEF, permit analysis of much larger proteins than polyacrylamide gels can. Oh-Ishi and Hirabayashi [8] further improved this method by adding 1 M thiourea and 5 M urea into the agarose IEF medium. Thiourea, in combination with urea, was reported to be a potent protein solubilizing reagent [9], especially effective for HMM proteins that could enter the first-dimensional agarose IEF gel [10].

Recently, defects in alternative splicing of mRNA [11] and aberrant post-translational modifications of a protein [12] were shown to be important causes of disease. Detection and identification of a protein spot having an apparent molecular mass and p*I* different from those predicted from a protein database are important applications of agarose 2-DE. In a comprehensive cancer proteome study using agarose 2-DE, the HMM region of the gel is rich in proteins of particular gene/protein expression groups. Examples include transcription factors, DNA or RNA binding proteins, and ribosomal proteins [13].

In this paper, we review the use of agarose gels for HMM protein separation and disease proteomics of HMM proteins in general, with particular attention paid to our proteome analyzes based on the use of agarose 2-DE for protein separation, followed by the use of mass spectrometry for protein identification.

2. Physical and chemical properties of HMM proteins

An HMM protein (Mr > 100 kDa) is a very long molecule consisting of several structural and repeating domains, capable of folding and functioning autonomously. HMM protein domains have evolved by insertions or deletions of distinct protein domains [14]. Skeletal myosin heavy chain (MHC) (Mr \sim 200 kDa), for example, consists of a head domain, containing the ATPase and actin-binding activities, and a rod domain, composed of 40 repeats of 28 residues each that are predicted to form an alpha-helical coiled coil [15,16]. The molecular mass of an HMM protein, e.g., MHC and dystrophin, is often sev-



Fig. 1. A schematic drawing of HMM and LMM proteins: comparison of the protein structure between native and denatured conditions. When proteins are to be analyzed by 2-DE, denaturation of the proteins before IEF is essential. HMM proteins (>100 kDa), having long chain and hydrophobic regions, tend to aggregate or tangle easily in the presence of denaturants (urea, thiourea) and/or detergents (SDS, CHAPS).

eral times larger than those of a typical low-molecular-mass (LMM) protein (Mr < 100 kDa), e.g., myosin light chain, actin, and tropomyosin.

Fig. 1 shows a schematic of representative HMM and LMM proteins in native or denatured conditions. In the native state, a protein molecule has a precise three-dimensional structure and a corresponding proper biological function. When total proteins in a cell or tissue homogenate are to be analyzed by 2-DE, denaturation of the proteins, in general, is an essential procedure before IEF. As a result, the solubility of the denatured proteins in aqueous solution may be sharply lowered, causing them to precipitate as insoluble aggregates. In many cases, denaturation is irreversible. HMM proteins that have both a long chain and hydrophobic regions tend to aggregate or tangle easily, even in the presence of powerful denaturants (urea, thiourea) and/or detergents (SDS, CHAPS).

Though a variety of protein separation techniques have been described, purification of HMM proteins remains a difficult task, because (i) solubilization of an HMM protein greatly depends on each protein's physical and chemical properties; (ii) denatured HMM proteins with hydrophobic regions tend to aggregate in aqueous solution; and (iii) an HMM protein, having a long polypeptide chain, is a target of endogenous proteases during purification procedures.

Thyroglobulin (Tg), for example, is a large, 660 kDa globular glycoprotein composed of two identical disulfide-linked subunits (each subunit: 330 kD). Tg, produced by follicular cells of the thyroid gland, is stored within the follicular lumen in a soluble form. Homogenization of thyroid tissue with an extraction medium that included high concentrations of urea and thiourea denatured the Tg molecules, and they became entangled. Not surprisingly, no Tg spot was visible in the immobilized pH gradient 2-DE (IPG-Dalt) gel (but a Tg spot actually was visible using agarose 2-DE) [17].

3. Separation techniques for HMM proteins

3.1. Mass-spectrometry-based proteomics for HMM proteins

Mass-spectrometry (MS)-based proteomics has become an essential tool for the qualitative and quantitative analysis of proteins. "Shotgun proteomics" refers to the automated identification and cataloging of proteins directly from complex protein mixtures in order to rapidly generate a global profile of the proteins in a tissue or cell [18]. In this approach, proteins are enzymatically digested into peptides, separated via reversedphase liquid chromatography (LC) and analyzed automatically by a mass spectrometer (MS). The method is capable of identifying a large number of proteins, often on the basis of a few peptides only. Consequently, shotgun proteomics is suitable for detecting proteins of lower abundance, and is not biased against certain classes of proteins such as basic proteins, membrane proteins, and HMM proteins, which are difficult to detect by 2-DE [19]. However, a major limitation of MS-based proteomics is that the connection between digested peptides and their assembly into proteins is difficult to achieve if some alternatively-spliced variants encoding a protein are present.

3.2. Gel-based proteomics for HMM proteins

The IPG-Dalt method is not particularly suitable for analyzing HMM proteins larger than 200 kDa [17]. However, a 2-DE method with agarose gels in the first dimension (agarose 2-DE) was shown to be suitable for HMM protein analysis [6,8,10]. The agarose 2-DE method would be preferable when (i) the intact molecular mass and p*I* of HMM proteins are to be determined and (ii) small amounts of HMM protein are to be micropreparatively separated [17]. HMM proteins detected by agarose

Table 1

HMM proteins (>100 kDa) separated by agarose 2-DE

Tissue (function)	Protein	Experimental MM Da/pI	Theoretical MM Da/pI	Reference
Rat Thyroid gland Hormone production	Thyroglobulin	330000/5.0	304645/5.04	[48]
Chicken skeletal muscle	Mussia kooru shsia	200000/6 0	222014/5 62	[6]
	Myösin neavy chain	200000/0.0	225014/5.05	נסן
Mouse skeletal muscle Anchoring the cytoskeleton to the plasma membrane	Dystrophin	350000/5.5	425817/5.66	[7]
Human prostate cancer: LNCaP cells Cell division				[35]
	ADP-ribosyltransferase	115000/8.5	113064/9.0	
	Damage-specific DNA binding protein 1	115000/5.4	126893/5.2	
	RAD50 homolog	145000/7.5	153873/6.5	
	Tankyrase 1-binding protein 220	000/4.7	181786/9.0	
Cell signaling/communication				
	Alpha-1 catenin	105000/6.7	100053/6.0	
	Clathrin heavy chain; clathrin, heavy polypeptide-like 2	160000/6.2	191595/5.5	
	Laminin gamma-1 chain	170000/5.1	177588/5.0	
	precursor Nucleoprotein TPP	280000/6 4	265600/5.0	
	Sec23-interacting protein p125	115000/5.5	111058/54	
	Spectrin alpha chain	260000/6.2	285046/5.2	
	1 1	260000/5.5		
		260000/5.2		
Cell structure/motility				
	Alpha-actinin 1, cytoskeletal isoform	105000/5.3	102956/5.2	
	Alpha-actinin 4	100000/5.4	102250/5.3	
	Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 6	135000/7.8	141523/6.8	
	Dynactin 1	145000/6.2	139941/5.5	
	Filamin B, beta	280000/6.3	278174/5.5	
	Myosin heavy chain, nonmuscle type A	200000/7.2	226512/5.5	
		200000/7.7		
		200000/7.6		
		200000/6.7		
	Diagtin 1	190000/6.8	519475/56	
	Talin	240000/7.2	269697/5 7	
	Turin	240000712	20)0)115.1	
Cell/organism defense	Oxygen regulated protein	140000/6.2	111317/5.2	
Gene/protein expression	precursor			
Gener protein expression	Alanyl tRNA synthetase	110000/5.9	105325/5.3	
	Chromatin-specific transcription elon-gation factor FACT 140 kDa	130000/7.2	119895/5.5	
	subunit Chromosome 20 open reading frame 14	130000/8.0	107095/8.6	
	Coatomer beta subunit 2	105000/6.0	102469/5.2	
	FYVE and coiled-coil domain containing 1	170000/5.0	166963/4.9	
	Glutamyl-prolyl tRNA synthetase	160000/7.5	163007/7.8	
	Hypothetical protein FLJ10839	140000/6.7	132839/5.6	
	Kruppel-type zinc finger protein (PEG3)	180000/6.3	180808/5.3	
	Leucyl tRNA synthetase	120000/7.4	134392/6.8	
	MOP-4	115000/6.0	117979/5.8	
	Puromycin-sensitive aminopeptidase	100000/5.6	103284/5.5	

Table 1 (Continued)

Tissue (function)	Protein	Experimental MM Da/pI	Theoretical MM Da/pI	Reference
	Ran binding protein 2	400000/6.8	358154/5.9	
	RNA helicase (KIAA0801)	130000/7.2	117443/9.3	
	Scaffold attachment factor B	150000/6.5	165120/5.3	
	SMC1 structural maintenance of	145000/8.0	143186/7.5	
	chromosomes 1-like 1			
	SMC2 structural maintenance of chromosomes 2-like 1	130000/8.6	135762/8.7	
	Splicing coactivator subunit SRm300	600000/6.7	299658/12.1	
	Splicing factor 3b, subunit 3, 130 kDa	130000/5.6	135559/5.1	
	Squamous cell carcinoma antigen	125000/6.7	109916/5.5	
	Translation initiation factor 2	165000/6 7	138910/54	
	Translation initiation factor 3, suburit 10 thete	160000/7.7	166551/6.4	
	Translation initiation factor 3,	110000/6.7	105325/5.5	
	subunit 8 U5 snRNP-specific protein,	115000/5.6	109417/5.3	
	116 kD			
	Ubiquitin specific protease 7 (herpes virus-associated)	130000/6.0	128253/5.3	
	Ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1	115000/6.0	117771/5.6	
	Valyl tRNA synthetase 2 (Metabolism)	135000/7.6	140475/7.5	
	ATP-citrate (pro-S-)-lyase	115000/7.5	120807/7.0	
	Fatty acid synthase	220000/6.6	273070/6.2	
	Glucosidase II alpha subunit	110000/7.5	109419/5.8	
	Hexokinase 1	110000/6.7	102720/6.3	
	High density lipoprotein binding protein (vigilin)	150000/7.3	141421/6.4	
	Methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase	105000/7.5	101541/6.8	
	Oxoglutarate dehydrogenase	105000/64	113457/6.6	
	Pyruvate carboxylase	115000/6 5	129615/64	
	Trifunctional purine biosynthetic	110000/6.6	107749/6.3	
Unclassified	protein adenositie 5			
Chelassinea	KIAA0336 gene product	180000/5 5	184639/5 1	
	Leucine-rich PPR-motif	135000/6.2	145182/5.5	
	The halo to the product	105000/5 7	106750/5 7	
	Protein for MGC:21133	120000/5.7	128994/5.0	
	[Mouse] alpha-spectrin 1	300000/4.9	2708/5// 9	
	[Mouse] murinoglobulin 1	170000/5.8	165139/6.0	
Human esophageal cancer				[50]
1 0	Periplakin	190000/5.2	204506/5.33	a sa
	Vinculin	130000/5.4	116645/5.75	
	Myosin heavy chain nonmuscle form A	130000/4.8	226582/5.41	
	Caldesmon 1 isoform 1	120000/5 5	93176/5.5	
	Smooth muscle myosin heavy	110000/4.9	227179/5.29	
	chain 11 isoform SM1			

Experimental molecular mass (MM) and pI were obtained from the protein position on 2-DE gels. Theoretical molecular mass (MM) and pI were calculated by amino-acid sequence.

2-DE from various cells and tissues are shown collectively in Table 1.

In human plasma, noncovalently associated protein-protein complexes with apparent molecular mass 60-600 kDa can be analyzed by nondenaturing 2-DE [20]. In this system,

an agarose gel (1% agarose containing 2.0% Ampholine pH 3.5–10 and 0.5% Ampholine pH 3.5–5) was used for the first-dimensional nondenaturing IEF. In the absence of denaturing agents in the second-dimensional polyacrylamide slab gel, alpha2-macroglobulin (alpha2M), high density lipopro-

tein (HDL) and haptoglobulin phenotype 2-1 (Hp2-1) have apparent molecular masses of about 600, 150 and 212 kDa, respectively. However, when a nondenaturing IEF agarose gel was equilibrated with a 2% SDS solution and then subjected to second-dimensional gel electrophoresis in the presence of SDS, an alpha2M spot appeared at an apparent molecular mass of about 320 kDa, suggesting that it dissociates into its halfmolecule in the presence of SDS. This shows that, even if a protein complex in human plasma has a molecular mass larger than 100 kDa, the nondenaturing agarose IEF gel can be useful for separating the complex.

Almost all proteins in a eukaryotic organism are modified from their mRNA-translated polypeptide by post-translational modifications (PTMs), which result in a protein diversity far exceeding the complexity of the genome [21]. One of the advantages of 2-DE is that it can resolve post-translationally modified (PTM) proteins into multiple spots, providing useful information when comparing the abundance of PTM proteins to that of the corresponding mRNA [22]. Specialized methods have been developed to study phosphorylation (phosphoproteome) [23] and glycosylation (glycoproteome) [24]. When we compare the gel-estimated Mr/pI of each HMM protein with the theoretical Mr/pI of the HMM protein calculated from a protein database, we notice that discrepancies can occur between the two results. These discrepancies occur partly because the electrophoretic mobility of the HMM protein is highly sensitive to PTM. This makes it possible to assess the modification state of the protein.

Roncada et al. [25] reported that the resolution of HMM proteins analyzed by SDS-PAGE could be improved by using gels that are copolymers of acrylamide and allyl agarose instead of pure polyacrylamide. This improvement is partly due to the higher average pore size of the copolymer gel, which does not entrap HMM proteins at the top. To investigate the performance of such copolymer gels for the second-dimension of 2-DE, they performed 2-DE of proteins extracted from the membranes of red blood cells (RBCs). The 2-DE map provided by the acrylamide/agarose copolymer showed well-defined spots in the 160–220 kDa range (spectrin alpha chain).

4. Analytical aspects and benefits of agarose gels

4.1. Comparison of agarose and polyacrylamide gels for protein separation

Agarose gel is the preferred chromatographic medium used for separating biological molecules of molecular mass >250 kDa, for which minimal nonspecific binding and retention of biological activity is required [26].

One of the reasons that agarose gels are suitable media for analyzing HMM proteins is the pore size of agarose gels, which was reported to be much larger than that of the polyacrylamide gels. The pore size of agarose gels at 0.5%-3.0%concentrations was 800 to 260 nm, respectively [27], while the apparent polyacrylamide gel pore radii ranged from 21 nm in gels containing 10.5% T, 5% C to 200 nm in gels with 4.6% T, 2% C [28]. In conventional SDS gel electrophoresis, the most commonly used separation matrix is a cross-linked polyacrylamide gel, typically at concentrations higher than 5%, or, when used in a gradient format, up to 25% [29]. The acrylamide concentration is selected to maximize resolution of the proteins of interest. A typical gel of 7% acrylamide composition nicely separates proteins with molecular mass between 45 and 200 kDa. In order to nicely separate smaller HMM proteins (100–200 kD), the concentration of acrylamide needs to be less than 5%. Note that, although the lowest percentage of acrylamide that will allow gelation is around 3%, gels made with less than 4% acrylamide are extremely difficult to work with, and thus rarely used [30].

4.2. SDS-agarose gel electrophoresis

Polyacrylamide-based SDS gels with very high molecular mass (VHMM) proteins (>500 kDa) is highly problematic, since protein migration is very limited in them. Attempts to overcome this problem through the use of large porosity gels are compromised by such gels' mechanical instability [31]. In addition, the transfer efficiency of HMM proteins out of polyacrylamide gels is low, which makes Western blotting a difficult challenge. By contrast, major advantages of agarose gels include increased mobility of VHMM proteins, improved resolution of isoforms, higher mechanically stability of the gels, and a much higher transfer efficiency to Western blots [31].

Various types of agarose gels have been used for separation of HMM proteins. SDS-agarose gels have been commercially available from FMC Bioproducts (Rockland, ME, USA) for over 10 years. Warren et al. [31] reported the SeaKem Gold agarose gel (Biowhittaker Cell Biology Products, Walkerville, MD, USA) worked best among various types of agarose or polyacrylamide gels for separating titin (3000-4000 kDa), novex-3 (700 kDa) and neblin isoforms (600-900 kDa) from skeletal and cardiac muscle extracts. The ProSieve resolving gel has been used horizontally to separate glycoproteins in a 150-220 kDa range [32]. Gabriel and Zentner [33] reported that SDS agarose gel electrophoresis and electroelution are suitable methods for studying very large molecular mass salivary mucin glycoproteins (>450 kDa). The superior mechanical strength of agarose, even at low gel concentrations, its biological inertness, and its stability in the pH range of 4-9 make it a popular electrophoresis separation matrix [29].

4.3. Agarose IEF

Agarose gels for isoelectric focusing (IEF) have been used for protein separation since the 1970s. Rosen et al. [34] reported that the resolving power of agarose IEF was comparable to that obtained in thin-layer IEF in polyacrylamide gels when native 19S IgM and alpha 2-macroglobulin were separated. However, agarose-based IEF has not been widely used for protein separation, mainly because the agarose gels are fragile and pose handling difficulties when compared with polyacrylamide gelbased IEF.



Fig. 2. Protein extraction efficiency of SDS in combination with urea and thiourea. (a) Human prostate cancer cells LNCaP (50 mg in weight) was homogenized with a 20-fold volume of extraction medium (7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 2% w/v CHAPS, 0.1 M DTT, 2.5% w/v Pharmalyte pH 3–10 and protease inhibitors (Complete Mini EDTA-free; Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). After centrifugation, 200 μ L of the sample solution was applied to the agarose IEF gel. (b) LNCaP (50 mg in weight) was homogenized with a 10-fold volume of SDS sample buffer (2% SDS, 10% w/v glycerol, 5% w/v 2-ME, 0.0625 M Tris–HCl, pH 6.8). A 10-fold volume of the extraction medium was put into the homogenate, mixed well, then centrifuged with Ultrafree-0.5 centrifugal filter units (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) until the solution volume was reduced to one-fifth of the original. After centrifugation, 100 μ L of the sample solution was applied to the agarose IEF gel. The gels were stained with PhastGel Blue R. HSA: human serum albumin.

Hirabayashi [6] was the first to develop a 2-DE method using agarose IEF in the first dimension. Oh-Ishi and Hirabayashi [8] further improved the method by adding 1 M thiourea and 5 M urea into an agarose IEF medium. A thiourea-urea agarose IEF solution does not gel at room temperature but at 4 °C, and the gel formed at 4 °C does not melt when the gel is returned to room temperature [35]. From the practical point of view, the 1 M thiourea-5 M urea-agarose IEF gel was a tremendous improvement over the 7 M urea-agarose IEF gel originally developed [6], because the agarose solution temperature no longer needed to be kept above 40 °C when preparing agarose IEF gels.

Mukai et al. [36] selected agarose gel IEF among various techniques employing charge differences for protein separation, since it has the following advantages: (i) isoelectric focusing is superior in resolution and in the separable pI range of proteins than ion-exchanging chromatography or other charge-based chromatographic or electrophoretic techniques; and (ii) an agarose gel has a larger average pore size than a polyacry-lamide gel, thus it is better suited for separating HMM protein complexes.

5. 2-DE with agarose gels in the first dimension (Agarose 2-DE)

5.1. Importance of solubilization of HMM proteins for agarose 2-DE

The use of different solubilization conditions for HMM proteins can increase the total number of protein spots detected on a 2-DE gel. Since the overall resolution of a 2-DE pattern always depends on the tissue being analyzed, the researcher will need to investigate various solubilization alternatives in order to find the methods and reagents that meet their requirements and optimize conditions for their study.

Thiourea, when used in combination with urea, was reported to be an efficient solubilizing reagent for HMM proteins [10]. For example, in skeletal muscle HMM proteins (myosin heavy chain, C-protein and alpha-actinin), the available amounts of these HMM proteins increased significantly when 1 M thiourea and 5 M urea were used for protein extraction.

SDS, a negatively charged ionic detergent, has been widely used in the first stages of solubilization of proteins [37]. Since almost all the proteins in any tissue or cell are solubilized by SDS, protein mixtures are often analyzed by SDS-PAGE. However, SDS-protein complexes, being uniformly negatively charged, are not compatible with IEF, and must be removed from the protein mixture before IEF [17]. Instead of SDS, non-ionic detergents, such as Triton X-100 and Nonidet P-40, or zwitterionic detergents, such as CHAPS, have been used for extraction media and/or IEF gels.

SDS is occasionally used for extraction of HMM proteins such as membrane integral proteins [38]. We tested the usage of SDS in HMM protein extraction medium in our laboratory. Fig. 2 shows agarose 2-DE patterns for human prostate cancer cells obtained in the absence (Fig. 2a) or presence (Fig. 2b) of SDS in the extraction media. In the former case, human prostate cancer cells LNCaP (50 mg in weight) were homogenized with a 20-fold volume of a 7-M urea-2-M thiourea extraction medium (7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 2% w/v CHAPS, 0.1 M DTT, 2.5% w/v Pharmalyte pH 3-10 and protease inhibitors: Complete Mini EDTA-free; Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). After centrifugation, 200 µL of the sample solution was applied to the agarose IEF gel. In the latter case, LNCaP (50 mg in weight) was homogenized with a 10-fold volume of SDS sample buffer (2% SDS, 10% w/v glycerol, 5% w/v 2-ME, 0.0625 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8). Since SDS occasionally disrupts a 2-DE pattern, extensive removal of SDS before IEF is an essential procedure. To accomplish this, a 10fold volume of the 7-M urea-2-M thiourea extraction medium was put into the SDS-treated homogenate, mixed well, then centrifuged using Ultrafree-0.5 centrifugal filter units (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) until the solution volume reduced to one-fifth of the original. After centrifugation, 100 µL of the sample solution was applied to the agarose IEF gel. The 7-M urea-2 M thiourea extraction was not as effective (Fig. 2a) as SDS extraction (Fig. 2b) in solubilizing these HMM proteins.



Fig. 3. Effect of ultracentrifugation. (a) Rat testis was homogenized with the extraction medium. The homogenate was centrifuged with a TOMY TMA-6 rotor at 15 000 rpm ($30\,000 \times g$) for 20 min. (b) The homogenate was centrifuged with a Beckman Coulter TLA-55 rotor at 50 000 rpm ($112\,000 \times g$) for 20 min. After centrifugation, 100 µL of each sample solution were applied to the agarose IEF gel. Arrows point to vertical streaks at the alkaline side of the second-dimensional SDS-gel, which came from proteins trapped on the alkaline top of the first-dimensional agarose gels. ACT: actin; HSP70: heat shock protein 70.



Fig. 4. Effect of ultracentrifugation. (a) Rat thymus was homogenized with the extraction medium. The homogenate was centrifuged with a TOMY TMA-6 rotor at 15 000 rpm ($30\,000 \times g$) for 20 min. (b) The homogenate was centrifuged with a Beckman Coulter TLA-55 rotor at 50 000 rpm ($112\,000 \times g$) for 20 min. The clear supernatant was centrifuged again with the same rotor at 50 000 rpm for 20 min. After centrifugation, $100 \,\mu$ L of each sample solution were applied to the agarose IEF gel. Arrows point to vertical streaks at the alkaline side of the second-dimensional SDS-gel. ACT: actin; HSP70: heat shock protein 70.

5.2. Importance of ultracentrifugation of samples

Our experience using 2-DE with various cells and tissues tells us that optimum sample preparation procedure depends on the sample. Proteome analysis of tissues with high DNA content, such as testis and thymus, is a very challenging task, because (i) many DNA binding proteins, including histones and transcriptional factors, are tightly complexed with DNA molecules; (ii) DNA molecules, which are acidic substances, can rush into the agarose IEF gel and destroy it before any proteins enter the gel, if the tissue extract is applied at the alkaline end of the gel; and (iii) the long-chain DNA can entangle with other proteins at the alkaline end of the IEF gel. Thus, removal of DNA molecules from the tissue extracts before sample loading is an essential process.

Figs. 3 and 4 show the effectiveness of ultracentrifugation for removing DNA from DNA-abundant homogenates before IEF. Ultracentrifugation with Beckman Coulter TLA-55 rotor at 50 000 rpm (112 000 × g) for 20 min was effective in subsequently obtained a well-resolved agarose 2-DE pattern (Fig. 3b). In the case of the thymus tissue extracts (Fig. 4), in which DNA is highly abundant, the clear supernatant should be centrifuged again at 50 000 rpm (112 000 × g) for 20 min before IEF (Fig. 4b). The right arrow in Fig. 4a shows the alka-



Fig. 5. Effect of 1% SDS in the second-dimensional SDS-polyacrylamide gel for analyzing HMM proteins of rat submaxillary gland. (a) The second-dimensional polyacrylamide gel includes 0.1% SDS according to the method of Laemmli. (b) 1% SDS was both in the stacking and separation gels. Note that protein spot densities are different in the square regions (HMM protein regions) surrounded by dotted lines in (a) and (b). RSA: rat serum albumin.

line end of the agarose IEF gel. Note how the IEF gel was shortened because of the highly abundant DNA in the thymus tissue.

5.3. Importance of SDS concentration of the second-dimensional SDS-polyacrylamide gel

O'Farrell applied the stacking gel system of Laemmli to the second-dimensional SDS-PAGE of his 2-DE system [5]. However, we noticed that 0.1% SDS concentration in the gel was not sufficient to solubilize HMM proteins in the first dimensional agarose IEF gel and to maintain solubility during the seconddimensional SDS-PAGE. Fig. 5 shows the effectiveness of 1% SDS in the second-dimensional SDS-polyacrylamide gel for analyzing HMM proteins of rat submaxillary gland. By comparing Coomassie-stained 2-DE patterns, we easily observed that the HMM protein spot densities are in general much thinner in Fig. 5a than in Fig. 5b (the square regions surrounded by dotted lines in Fig. 5a and b). Among tissues inspected, we noticed that tissues such as the submaxillary gland, sublingual gland and intestinal mucus, which bear abundant mucins (major glycoprotein components of mucus), are likely to distort the HMM protein region of an agarose 2-DE pattern.

6. Use of agarose 2-DE in cancer proteomics of HMM proteins

Cancer proteomics is expected to be useful for discovering new biomarkers and drug targets, present in serum and other tissues, that would give us means for early diagnosis of cancer, inventive cancer therapeutics and drug discovery [39]. One of the most prevalent and successful models in cancer research is that cancer involves changes in gene expression. However, given recent indications that alternative splicing is a widespread mechanism of functional regulation in the human genome, it is interesting to ask whether cancer might involve changes in mRNA splicing [40]. Whereas in normal cells such failures of the splice site selection machinery rarely occur [41], their frequency can be greatly elevated in tumors [42]. Cancer-associated mRNA splice variants have been reported for HMM proteins such as EGFR (Mr \sim 170 kDa), lactate dehydrogenase (Mr \sim 142 kDa), cadherin-11 (Mr \sim 120 kDa), and fibronectin (Mr \sim 440 kDa) [43]. Since gene expression profiles based on mRNA analysis do not always correlate with protein expression data, detection and identification of a cancer-specific isoform of HMM proteins, which then could be useful targets of cancer proteomics for early detection of cancer and for evaluation of tumor progression, is needed.

6.1. Prostate cancer

Although PSA has been a useful biomarker for prostate cancer, PSA in the "gray-zone" from 4.1 to 10 ng/mL is not particularly effective for differentiating prostate cancer from benign prostate diseases [44,45].

We made a comprehensive study of protein expression of androgen-independent (AI) prostate cancer (LNCaP human prostate tumors) by means of agarose 2-DE followed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometric analysis [46]. About 500 protein spots could be seen on a 2-DE gel stained with PhastGel Blue R. We successfully identified 295 proteins (91.0%) out of 324 spots excised. 233 out of 295 were nonredundant. Within this set, we divided the 226 cancer-related proteins into 64 high-molecular-mass (HMM) and 162 lowmolecular-mass (LMM) groups based on their molecular masses being above or below 100 kDa. HMM and LMM proteins were observed to have different compositions with regard to functional classification: 39.1% of the HMM proteins but only 28.4% of the LMM ones were classified as transcription/translationrelated proteins. Successfully obtaining this result was due to our usage of an agarose 2-DE method for protein separation. This method was sufficiently good at separating HMM proteins as large as 500 kDa and as much as 1.5 mg of total protein.

In light of this demanding situation, we expected that our agarose 2-DE maps would be a reasonable starting point for discovering new prostate cancer biomarkers. We identified 12 proteins that had not been reported previously to bear any relation to cancer and 35 more that had been considered to have something to do with cancer in general, but not with prostate cancer in particular [46]. Some of these proteins might be candidates as new biomarkers for prostate cancer, and further investigation is ongoing in our laboratory.

It should be noted that we did not identify certain wellknown prostate cancer biomarkers such as PSA, PSMA, p53, vp27, Bcl-2, Ki-67, and E-cadherin [47] that had been found using genomic approaches. We believe that these discrepancies were due to the following: it was reported that the correlation between mRNA and protein levels was insufficient for reliably predicting protein expression levels from quantitative mRNA data [48,49]. Consequently, this proteomic approach may also have the capability of finding biomarkers that are different than those found by genomic approach [13]. The discrepancies might be attributed to the low sensitivity of our methods for protein detection with Coomassie Blue staining. Silver stain is one to two orders of magnitude more sensitive for detection of protein than Coomassie Blue staining. In fact, we could find at least several hundred protein spots when the silver staining method was used for protein detection. We used a 2D-DIGE system with agarose 2-DE for detection of human esophageal cancer proteins [50]. Our technique is thus also compatible with the sensitive CyeDye detection system.

6.2. Colorectal cancer

Although extensive proteome studies of colorectal cancer have been performed by several investigators, only a limited number of proteins have been identified, probably due to small loading capacity [51–55]. In order to significantly increase the amount of starting protein, we used the agarose 2-DE method to compare the protein expression profiles in normal and colorectal cancer tissues [56]. For HMM proteins, no significant difference between the tumor tissue and adjacent normal mucosa was observed. On the other hand, we did identify 36 LMM proteins whose expression is altered in tumor tissue compared with adjacent normal mucosa. They include novel proteins such as eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4H (eIF-4H), inorganic pyrophosphatase, voltage-dependent anion channel 1 (VDAC1), adenylyl cyclase-associated protein (CAP1) and nuclear chloride ion channel protein (NCC27). The elevated expression of these proteins in cancer tissues was confirmed by Western blot. Moreover, post-translational modifications of prolyl-4-hydroxylase beta subunit (P4HB), annexin A2 and triosephosphate isomerase 1 (TPI1) were also identified. Interestingly, cleavage of P4HB was tumor-specific, whereas annexin A2 was resistant to proteolytic cleavage in tumor tissues. These novel findings demonstrated that the higher loading capacity of agarose 2-DE helps make it a powerful technique for looking for not only quantitative but also key qualitative changes in the biological process of interest. These capabilities will undoubtedly contribute to our understanding of the underlying mechanisms of diseases such as cancer.

6.3. Esophageal cancer

Esophageal cancer is one of the most lethal malignant tumors. The aggressive behavior of this tumor is often associated with systemic spread of the disease at the time of diagnosis [57]. Esophageal cancer has a high incidence of locoregional recurrence after radical surgery, and long-term survival is low [58]. Thus, to improve the prognosis of esophageal cancer, the development of early detection methods is critical. We identified novel proteins with altered expression in primary esophageal cancer using agarose 2-DE and agarose 2-D DIGE [50]. Thirtythree proteins out of 74 spots with altered expression in tumors were identified. They include five HMM proteins periplakin $(\sim 195 \text{ kDa})$, vinculin $(\sim 130 \text{ kDa})$, myosin heavy chain nonmuscle form A (~130 kDa), caldesmon 1 isoform 1 (~120 kDa), and smooth muscle myosin heavy chain 11 isoform SM1 $(\sim 110 \text{ kD})$. Among them, a membrane-associated, 195 kDa protein, periplakin, was significantly downregulated in esophageal cancer, which was confirmed by immunoblotting. Immunohistochemistry showed that periplakin was mainly localized at cell-cell boundaries in normal epithelium and dysplastic lesions, while it disappeared from cell boundaries and shifted to the cytoplasm in early cancers and was scarcely expressed in advanced cancers [50]. These results suggest that periplakin could be a useful marker for detection of early esophageal cancer and evaluation of tumor progression.

7. Endocrine disease proteomics of HMM proteins

The human endocrine system is a complicated network of hormone-producing organs that control metabolism, growth, and development. Too much or too little of a certain hormone has deleterious effects throughout the body and causes various endocrine disorders. Endocrine diseases, including hypothyroidism and diabetes, show abnormalities in many different organs and tissues. Endocrine proteomics is expected to be useful for discovering new biomarkers and drug targets present in serum and various tissues or organs. Such discoveries would give us new means for early diagnosis of endocrine disorders, as well as inventive therapeutics and drug discovery. Although many organs can be affected by hormonal disorders, there are currently few validated biomarkers useful for evaluation of individual risk and staging the degree of target organ abnormality. Detection and identification of proteins related to endocrine diseases requires an extensive proteomic analysis of various tissues and organs of an appropriate animal model.

7.1. Hypothyroidism and dwarfism

Because hormone abnormalities affect many organs and tissues, agarose 2-DE in an endocrine system proteome project is expected to reveal virtually all proteins present in associated cells and tissues at any given time.

We searched for proteins known to be related to hereditary dwarfism in the rdw rat (gene symbol: rdw) in various tissues of the rat with agarose 2-DE followed by immunoblotting and microsequencing [59]. Among 10 tissues inspected, only the pituitary and thyroid glands showed abnormalities in protein contents. The abnormalities in the *rdw* thyroid were far more serious than in the pituitary. Fig. 6a shows that at least 18 protein levels in the *rdw* thyroid were above, and 17 were below, normal (Fig. 6b). Those identified among the increased proteins were endoplasmin (GRP94), immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein (BiP/GRP78) and heat shock protein 70 (hsp70), the contents of which, respectively, were $40 \times$, $10 \times$ and more than $50 \times$ higher in the *rdw* thyroid as in the normal tissue. These increased proteins are known to be molecular chaperone proteins. The observation of a decrease in thyroglobulin (Tg: Mr \sim 330 kDa/subunit, 660 kD total) content in the *rdw* thyroid, as shown in Fig. 6a and b, suggests that thyroid hormone production is reduced in the *rdw* thyroid. Increased levels of the chaperone proteins and the pH shift of Tg in the rdw thyroid suggest an accumulation of misfolded, aberrantly glycosylated, or unassembled Tg. In fact, the primary cause is a single point mutation in the



Fig. 6. Comparison of agarose 2-DE patterns of rdw (a) and the normal thyroid extracts (b). The 2-DE gels were stained with PhastGel Blue R. Tg: thyroglobulin (Mr ~330 kDa/subunit; 660 kD total); HSP70: heat shock protein 70; BiP immunoglobulin heavy chain-binding protein. Note that the p*I* of rdw Tg was shifted from pH 5–6.

Tg gene [60]. This was originally inferred from the proteomic study [59] and later confirmed by sequencing the Tg cDNA [60]. Although a missense mutation (G2320R) in the Tg gene is the primary cause of the hereditary disorder, the deficiency of thyroid hormone (T4) also influences the developmental process of the *rdw* rats.

7.2. Diabetes

Proteins related to diabetes in the model Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rat, which resembles human diabetes mellitus Type II, were searched for in various tissues of the rat by a combined method of agarose 2-DE and agarose 2D DIGE. Long-Evans Tokushima Otsuka (LETO) rat was used as a control. This method allowed us to investigate differences in the 2-DE patterns from tissue extracts of OLETF and LETO rats, including changes in the amount of several proteins larger than 100 kDa (HMM proteins). In Fig. 7, red spots indicate proteins that are upregulated and green ones those that are downregulated in the liver from a 50-week-old OLETF rat. Identification of these proteins is now underway, and we believe that the results will be useful for finding new marker proteins for diabetes.

Oxidative stress is implicated in a broad variety of chronic and acute diseases, such as diabetes. To understand, at the protein level, cellular damage caused by this stress, we developed a proteomic method in which protein carbonyls were derivatized with biotin hydrazide followed by 2-DE [61]. Agarose 2-DE was chosen for its capability of analyzing HMM proteins. This method was applied to detecting protein carbonyls in skeletal and cardiac muscles of a diabetes model OLETF rat and a control LETO rat. A number of proteins, including mitochondrial ATP synthase beta-chain, desmin, actin, creatine kinase, and



Fig. 7. An agarose-2D-DIGE pattern of rat liver proteins. Proteins extracted from the liver of the 50-week-old control LETO rat were labeled with green (Cy3) and those from the diabetic OLETF rat with red (Cy5). Note that HMM proteins can be successfully analyzed by this method of detection.

myosin heavy chain (MHC: Mr \sim 200 kDa), were found to be carbonylated. In chronological studies of protein carbonylation in gastrocnemius muscle of the OLETF rat, the carbonyl content of MHC changes with aging: MHC carbonyls stay low at 4 to 12 weeks of age, but rose and stayed high after 20 weeks of age. MHC carbonyl content in gastrocnemius muscle was the highest in the 50 week old rat [61].

Fig. 8 shows 2-DE patterns for the testis of the 50 week old LETO (Fig. 8a and b) and OLETF (Fig. 8c and d) rats. The left panels of Fig. 8 stand for protein amounts (PhastGel Blue R staining) and the right ones for protein carbonyl contents. The square regions surrounded by dotted lines in the left panels correspond to the right ones. The left panels (Fig. 8a and



Fig. 8. Protein carbonyls detected in agarose 2-DE of testis extracts. (a) and (b) 50-Week-old normal LETO rat; (c) and (d) 50-week-old diabetic OLETF rat. (a) and (c) Protein amounts by PhastGel Blue R staining of 2-DE gels; (b) and (d) Protein carbonyl contents by carbonyl-specific color development on PVDF membranes. The square regions surrounded by dotted lines in the left panels correspond to the right ones. Major differences in protein carbonyl contents between the LETO and OLETF extracts are indicated by arrows.

c) are quite similar to each other, but the right panels (Fig. 8b and d) are not. The right panels of Fig. 8 clearly show that carbonyl contents of proteins in testis are higher in the OLETF rat than in the LETO. Protein carbonyls of the HMM proteins indicated by arrows were detected only in the OLETF rat. Unfortunately, since the amounts of the HMM proteins. However, this method would be a candidate for one of the proteomic tools that could individually analyze oxidative damage on these HMM proteins.

In conclusion, this proteomic method, utilizing protein carbonyl derivitization, could provide a means towards attaining a comprehensive view of oxidative modifications of proteins during the long progression of age-related diseases such as diabetes, as well as understanding the mechanisms involved in the onset, progression and complication of these diseases.

References

- M.R. Wilkins, C. Pasquali, R.D. Appel, K. Ou, O. Golaz, J.C. Sanchez, J.X. Yan, A.A. Gooley, G. Hughes, I. Humphery-Smith, K.L. Williams, D.F. Hochstrasser, Biotechnology (NY) 14 (1996) 61.
- [2] M. Koenig, A.P. Monaco, L.M. Kunkel, Cell 53 (1988) 219.
- [3] F. Baas, G.-J.B. van Ommen, H. Bikker, A.C. Arnberg, J.J.M. de Vijlder, Nucleic Acids Res. 14 (1986) 5171.
- [4] R. Anan, G. Greve, L. Thierfelder, H. Watkins, W.J. McKenna, S. Solomon, C. Vecchio, H. Shono, S. Nakao, H. Tanaka, A. Mares Jr., J.A. Towbin, P. Spirito, R. Roberts, J.G. Seidman, C.E. Seidman, J. Clin. Invest. 93 (1994) 280.
- [5] P.H. O'Farrell, J. Biol. Chem. 250 (1975) 4007.
- [6] T. Hirabayashi, Anal. Biochem. 117 (1981) 443.
- [7] S. Hori, H. Sugiura, T. Shimizu, T. Hirabayashi, S. Ohtani, M. Yoshida, K. Miyamoto, H. Tanabe, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 161 (1989) 726.
- [8] M. Oh-Ishi, T. Hirabayashi, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B 92 (1989) 609.
 [9] L.D. Yates, M.L. Greaser, J. Mol. Biol. 168 (1983) 123.
- [10] M. Oh-Ishi, T. Hirabayashi, Phys. -Chem. Biol. 32 (1988) 113.
- [11] J.P. Venables, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 7647.
- [12] A. Sharma, S. Chavali, A. Mahajan, R. Tabassum, V. Banerjee, N. Tandon, D. Bharadwaj, Mol. Cell. Proteomics 4 (2005) 1029.
- [13] H. Kuruma, S. Egawa, M. Oh-Ishi, Y. Kodera, T. Maeda, Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 8 (2005) 14.
- [14] C.E. Storm, E.L. Sonnhammer, Bioinformatics 17 (2001) 343.
- [15] T.A. Richards, T. Cavalier-Smith, Nature 436 (2005) 1113.
- [16] M.J. Kelley, W. Jawien, T.L. Ortel, J.F. Korczak, Nat. Genet. 26 (2000) 106.
- [17] M. Oh-Ishi, T. Maeda, J. Chromatogr. B 771 (2002) 49.
- [18] W.H. Mc Donald, J.R. Yates 3rd, Dis. Markers 18 (2002) 99.
- [19] S.P. Gygi, B. Rist, T.J. Griffin, J. Eng, R. Aebersold, J. Proteome Res. 1 (2002) 47.
- [20] T. Manabe, H. Mizuma, K. Watanabe, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 830.
- [21] O.N. Jensen, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7 (2006) 391.
- [22] E. McGregor, M.J. Dunn, Hum. Mol. Genet. 12 (2003) R135.
- [23] S. Irar, E. Oliveira, M. Pages, A.G. Dr, Proteomics 6 (2005) S175.
- [24] D.E. Sleat, H. Lackland, Y. Wang, I. Sohar, G. Xiao, H. Li, P. Lobel, Proteomics 5 (2005) 1520.
- [25] P. Roncada, M. Cretich, R. Fortin, S. Agosti, L.D. Franceschi, G.F. Greppi, F. Turrini, F. Carta, S. Turri, M. Levi, M. Chiari, Proteomics 5 (2005) 2331.

- [26] N. Fatin-Rouge, K. Starchev, J. Buffle, Biophys. J. 86 (2004) 2710.
- [27] M. Maaloum, N. Pernodet, B. Tinland, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 1606.
- [28] N.C. Stellwagen, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 1542.
- [29] A. Gerstner, Z. Csapo, M. Sasvari-Szekely, A. Guttman, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 834.
- [30] M.H. Suh, P. Ye, A.B. Datta, M. Zhang, J. Fu, Anal. Biochem. 343 (2005) 166.
- [31] C.M. Warren, P.R. Krzesinski, M.L. Greaser, Electrophoresis 24 (2003) 1695.
- [32] M. Ugozzoli, A. Chiu, BioTechniques 12 (1992) 187.
- [33] M. Gabriel, A. Zentner, Clin. Oral Investig. 9 (2005) 284.
- [34] A. Rosen, K. Ek, P. Aman, J. Immunol. Methods 28 (1979) 1.
- [35] M. Oh-Ishi, M. Satoh, T. Maeda, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1653.
- [36] J. Mukai, N. Yamaguchi, T. Manabe, Chromatography 24 (2003) 127.
- [37] T. Rabilloud, Methods Mol. Biol. 112 (1999) 9.
- [38] A. Harder, R. Wildgruber, A. Nawrocki, S.J. Fey, P.M. Larsen, A. Gorg, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 826.
- [39] S. Hanash, Nature 422 (2003) 226.
- [40] C. Akgul, D.A. Moulding, S.W. Edwards, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 61 (2004) 2189.
- [41] A. Skandalis, P.J. Ninniss, D. McCormac, L. Newton, Mutant Res. 501 (2002) 37.
- [42] H. LeHir, N. Charlet-Berguerand, V. de Franciscis, C. Thermes, Oncology 63 (2002) 84.
- [43] Q. Xu, C. Lee, Nucleic Acids Res. 31 (2003) 5635.
- [44] D.W. Chan, L.J. Sokoll, J. Int. Fed. Clin. Chem. 9 (1997) 120.
- [45] A.W. Partin, J.E. Oesterling, Urology 48 (1996) 1.
- [46] H. Kuruma, S. Egawa, M. Oh-Ishi, Y. Kodera, M. Satoh, W. Chen, H. Okusa, K. Matsumoto, T. Maeda, S. Baba, Proteomics 5 (2005) 1097.
- [47] J.M. Moul, A.S. Merseburger, S. Srivastava, Clin. Prostate Cancer 1 (2002) 42.
- [48] S.P. Gygi, Y. Rochon, B.R. Franza, R. Aebersold, Mol. Cell. Biol. 19 (1999) 1720.
- [49] A. Waghray, F. Feroze, M.S. Schober, F. Yao, C. Wood, E. Puravs, M. Krause, S. Hanash, Y.Q. Chen, Proteomics 1 (2001) 1327.
- [50] T. Nishimori, T. Tomonaga, K. Matsushita, M. Oh-Ishi, Y. Kodera, T. Maeda, F. Nomura, H. Matsubara, H. Shimada, T. Ochiai, Proteomics 6 (2006) 1011.
- [51] H. Ji, G.E. Reid, R.L. Moritz, J.S. Eddes, A.W. Burgess, R.J. Simpson, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 605.
- [52] P.R. Jungblut, U. Zimny-Arndt, E. Zeindl-Eberhart, J. Stulik, K. Koupilova, K.P. Pleissner, A. Otto, E.C. Muller, W. Sokolowska-Kohler, G. Grabher, G. Stoffler, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 2100.
- [53] J. Stulik, K. Koupilova, J. Osterreicher, J. Knizek, A. Macela, J. Bures, P. Jandik, F. Langr, K. Dedic, P.R. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 3638.
- [54] J. Stulik, L. Hernychova, S. Porkertova, J. Knizek, A. Macela, J. Bures, P. Jandik, J.I. Langridge, P.R. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 3019.
- [55] L.C. Lawrie, S. Curran, H.L. McLeod, J.E. Fothergill, G.I. Murray, Mol. Pathol. 54 (2001) 253.
- [56] T. Tomonaga, K. Matsushita, S. Yamaguchi, M. Oh-Ishi, Y. Kodera, T. Maeda, H. Shimada, T. Ochiai, F. Nomura, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (2004) 2007.
- [57] J.M. Daly, L.H. Karnell, H.R. Menck, Cancer 78 (1996) 1820.
- [58] Y. Tabira, T. Okuma, K. Kondo, N. Kitamura, J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 117 (1999) 239.
- [59] M. Oh-Ishi, A. Omori, J.-Y. Kwon, T. Agui, T. Maeda, S.-I. Furudate, Endocrinology 139 (1998) 1288.
- [60] A. Hishinuma, S. Furudate, M. Oh-Ishi, N. Nagakubo, T. Namatame, T. Ieiri, Endocrinology 141 (2000) 4050.
- [61] M. Oh-Ishi, T. Ueno, T. Maeda, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 34 (2003) 11.